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(k) The Commission may extend the
time limits in paragraphs (g) and (j) of
this section for good cause.

(l) The Commission may delegate its
authority for conducting complaint in-
vestigations to other Federal agencies,
except that the authority for making
the final determination may not be
delegated.

[49 FR 33211, Aug. 22, 1984, as amended at 50
FR 50778, Dec. 12, 1985]

§§ 6.171–6.999 [Reserved]
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Subpart A—General Provisions

§ 7.1 Purpose and applicability.

(a) The Federal Election Commission
is committed to honest, independent
and impartial monitoring and enforce-
ment of federal election law. To ensure
public trust in the fairness and integ-
rity of the federal elections process, all
employees must observe the highest
standards of conduct. This part pre-
scribes standards of ethical conduct for
Commissioners, employees and special
Government employees of the Federal
Election Commission relating to con-
flicts of interest arising out of outside
employment, private business and pro-
fessional activities, political activities,
and financial interests. The avoidance
of misconduct and conflicts of interest
on the part of Commission employees
through informed judgment is indis-
pensable to the maintenance of these
prescribed ethical standards. Attain-
ment of these goals necessitates strict
and absolute fairness and impartiality
in the administration of the law.

(b) This part applies to all persons in-
cluded within the terms employee and
special Commission employees of the
Commission as defined in 11 CFR 7.2,
except to the extent otherwise indi-
cated herein, and is consistent with Ex-
ecutive Order 11222 and part 735 of title
5, Code of Federal Regulations, relating
to employee responsibilities and con-
duct.

(c) These Standards of Conduct shall
be construed in accordance with any
applicable laws, regulations and agree-
ments between the Federal Election
Commission and a labor organization.

§ 7.2 Definitions.

As used in this part:
(a) Commission means the Federal

Election Commission, 999 E Street,
NW., Washington, DC 20463.
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(b) Commissioner means a voting
member of the Federal Election Com-
mission, in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
437c.

(c) Conflict of interest means a situa-
tion in which an employee’s private in-
terest is inconsistent with the efficient
and impartial conduct of his or her of-
ficial duties and responsibilities.

(d) Designated Agency Ethics Officer or
Ethics Officer means the employee des-
ignated by the Commission to admin-
ister the provisions of the Ethics in
Government Act of 1978 (Pub. L. 95–
521), as amended, and includes a des-
ignee of the Ethics Officer.

(e) Employee means an employee of
the Federal Election Commission, but
does not include a special Commission
employee.

(f) Former employee means one who
was, and is no longer, an employee of
the Commission.

(g) Official responsibility means the di-
rect administrative or operating au-
thority, whether intermediate or final,
to approve, disapprove, or otherwise di-
rect Commission action. Official re-
sponsibility may be exercised alone or
with others and either personally or
through subordinates.

(h) Outside employment or other outside
activity means any work, service or
other activity performed by an em-
ployee, but not a Commissioner, other
than in the performance of the employ-
ee’s official duties. It includes such ac-
tivities as writing and editing, pub-
lishing, teaching, lecturing, consulting,
self-employment, and other services or
work performed, with or without com-
pensation.

(i) Person means an individual, cor-
poration, company, association, firm,
partnership, society, joint stock com-
pany, political committee, or other
group, organization, or institution.

(j) Special Commission employee means
an individual who is retained, des-
ignated, appointed or employed by the
Federal Election Commission to per-
form, with or without compensation,
temporary duties either on a full-time
or intermittent basis, for not to exceed
130 days during any period of 365 con-
secutive days, as defined at 18 U.S.C.
202.

§ 7.3 Notification to employees and
special Commission employees.

(a) The provisions of this part shall
be brought to the attention of, and
made available to, each employee and
special Commission employee by fur-
nishing a copy at the time of final pub-
lication. The provisions of this part
shall further be brought to the atten-
tion of such employees at least annu-
ally thereafter.

(b) The provisions of this part shall
be brought to the attention of each
new employee and new special Commis-
sion employee by furnishing a copy at
the time of entrance of duty, and by
such other methods of information and
education as the Ethics Officer may
prescribe.

§ 7.4 Interpretation and advisory serv-
ice.

A Commissioner or employee seeking
advice and guidance on questions of
conflict of interest and on other mat-
ters covered by this part should con-
sult with the Commission’s General
Counsel, who serves as Ethics Officer.
The Ethics Officer should be consulted
prior to the undertaking of any action
which might violate this part gov-
erning the conduct of Commissioners
or employees.

§ 7.5 Reporting suspected violations.

(a) Personnel who have information
which causes them to believe that
there has been a violation of a statute
or policy set forth in this part should
promptly report such incident to the
Ethics Officer. If a report is made oral-
ly, the Ethics Officer shall require a
written report from the complainant
before proceeding further.

(b) When information available to
the Commission indicates a conflict be-
tween the interests of an employee or
special Commission employee and the
performance of his or her Commission
duties, the employee or special Com-
mission employee shall be provided an
opportunity to explain the conflict or
appearance of conflict in writing.

§ 7.6 Disciplinary and other remedial
action.

(a) A violation of this part by an em-
ployee or special Commission employee
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may be cause for appropriate discipli-
nary action which may be in addition
to any penalty prescribed by law.

(b) When the Ethics Officer deter-
mines that an employee may have or
appears to have a conflict of interest,
the Ethics Officer, the employee’s su-
pervisor, the employee’s division head,
and the Staff Director or General
Counsel may question the employee in
the matter and gather other informa-
tion. The Ethics Officer, the employ-
ee’s supervisor, the employee’s division
head, and the Staff Director or General
Counsel shall discuss with the em-
ployee possible ways of eliminating the
conflict or appearance of conflict. If
the Ethics Officer, after consultation
with the employee’s supervisor, the
employee’s division head, and the Staff
Director or General Counsel, concludes
that remedial action should be taken,
he or she shall refer a statement to the
Commission containing his or her rec-
ommendation for such action. The
Commission, after consideration of the
employee’s explanation and the results
of any investigation, may direct appro-
priate remedial action as it deems nec-
essary.

(c) Remedial action pursuant to para-
graph (b) of this section may include,
but is not limited to:

(1) Changes in assigned duties;
(2) Divestment by the employee of his

or her conflicting interest;
(3) Disqualification for a particular

action; or
(4) Disciplinary action.

Subpart B—Conduct and Respon-
sibilities of Employees or
Commissioners

§ 7.7 Prohibited conduct—General.
A Commissioner or employee shall

avoid any action whether or not spe-
cifically prohibited by this subpart
which might result in, or create the ap-
pearance of:

(a) Using public office for unlawful
private gain;

(b) Giving favorable or unfavorable
treatment to any person or organiza-
tion due to any partisan, political, or
other consideration;

(c) Impeding Government efficiency
or economy;

(d) Losing independence or impar-
tiality;

(e) Making a Government decision
outside official channels; or

(f) Affecting adversely the confidence
of the public in the integrity of the
Government.

§ 7.8 Gifts, entertainment, and favors.

(a) A Commissioner or employee of
the Federal Election Commission shall
not solicit or accept, directly or indi-
rectly, any gift, gratuity, favor, enter-
tainment, loan, or any other thing of
monetary value, from a person who:

(1) Has, or is seeking to obtain, con-
tractual or other business or financial
relations with the Commission;

(2) Conducts operations or activities
that are regulated or examined by the
Commission; or

(3) Has interests that may be sub-
stantially affected by the performance
or nonperformance of the Commis-
sioner or employee’s official duty.

(b) Paragraph (a) of this section shall
not apply:

(1) Where obvious family or personal
relationships govern when the cir-
cumstances make it clear that it is
those relationships rather than the
business of the persons concerned
which are the motivating factors;

(2) To the acceptance of food, refresh-
ments, and accompanying entertain-
ment of nominal value in the ordinary
course of a social occasion or a lunch-
eon or dinner meeting or other func-
tion where a Commissioner or an em-
ployee is properly in attendance;

(3) To the acceptance of unsolicited
advertising or promotional material or
other items of nominal intrinsic value
such as pens, pencils, note pads, cal-
endars; and

(4) To the acceptance of loans from
banks or other financial institutions
on customary terms to finance proper
and usual activities, such as home
mortgage loans.

(c) A Commissioner or an employee
shall not solicit a contribution from
another employee for a gift to an offi-
cial superior, make a donation as a gift
to an official superior, or accept a gift
from an employee receiving less pay
than himself or herself. However, this
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paragraph does not prohibit a vol-
untary gift of nominal value or dona-
tion in a nominal amount made on a
special occasion such as birthday, holi-
day, marriage, illness, or retirement.

(d) A Commissioner or employee
shall not accept a gift, present, decora-
tion, or other thing from a foreign gov-
ernment unless authorized by Congress
as provided by the Constitution and in
section 7342 of title 5, United States
Code.

(e) Neither this section nor 11 CFR
7.7 precludes a Commissioner or em-
ployee from receipt of a bona fide reim-
bursement, unless prohibited by law,
for expenses of travel and such other
necessary subsistence as is compatible
with this part for which no Govern-
ment payment or reimbursement is
made. However, this section does not
allow an employee or Commissioner to
be reimbursed, or payment to be made
on his or her behalf, for excessive per-
sonal living expenses, gifts, entertain-
ment, or other personal benefits, nor
does it allow an employee to be reim-
bursed by a person for travel on official
business under agency orders when re-
imbursement is proscribed by Decision
B–128527 of the Comptroller General
dated March 7, 1967 (46 Comp. Gen. 689).

§ 7.9 Outside employment or activities.
(a) A member of the Commission

shall not devote a substantial portion
of his or her time to any other busi-
ness, vocation, or employment. Any in-
dividual who is engaging substantially
in any other business, vocation, or em-
ployment at the time such individual
begins to serve as a member of the
Commission shall appropriately limit
such activity no later than 90 days
after beginning to serve as such a
member.

(b) An employee shall not engage in
outside employment that is not com-
patible with the full discharge of his or
her Government employment and not
in compliance with any labor-manage-
ment agreement between the Federal
Election Commission and a labor orga-
nization. Incompatible outside employ-
ment or other activities include but
are not limited to:

(1) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities which would involve the viola-
tion of a Federal or State statute, local

ordinance, Executive Order, or regula-
tion to which the employee is subject;

(2) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities which would give rise to a real
or apparent conflict of interest situa-
tion even though no violation of a spe-
cific statutory provision was involved;

(3) Acceptance of a fee, compensa-
tion, gift, payment of expense, or any
other thing of monetary value in cir-
cumstances where acceptance may re-
sult in, or create the appearance of, a
conflict of interest;

(4) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities that might bring discredit upon
the Government or Commission;

(5) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities that establish relationships or
property interests that may result in a
conflict between the employee’s pri-
vate interests and official duties;

(6) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities which would involve any con-
tractor or subcontractor connected
with any work performed for the Com-
mission or would involve any person or
organization in a position to gain ad-
vantage in its dealings with the Gov-
ernment through the employee’s exer-
cise of his or her official duties;

(7) Outside employment of other ac-
tivities that may be construed by the
public to be the official acts of the Fed-
eral Election Commission. In any per-
missible outside employment, care
shall be taken to ensure that names
and titles of employees are not used to
give the impression that the activity is
officially endorsed or approved by the
Commission or is part of the Commis-
sion’s activities;

(8) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities which would involve use by an
employee of his or her official duty
time; use of official facilities, including
office space, machines, or supplies, at
any time; or use of the services of
other employees during their official
duty hours;

(9) Outside employment or other ac-
tivities which tend to impair the em-
ployee’s mental or physical capacities
to perform Commission duties and re-
sponsibilities in an acceptable manner;
or

(10) Use of information obtained as a
result of Government employment
which is not freely available to the
general public or would not be made
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available upon request. However, writ-
ten authorization for the use of any
such information may be given when
the Commission determines that such
use would be in the public interest.

(c) An employee shall not receive any
salary or anything of monetary value
from a private source as compensation
for his or her services to the Govern-
ment in violation of 18 U.S.C. 209.

(d) Employees are encouraged to en-
gage in teaching, lecturing, and writ-
ing that is not prohibited by law, Exec-
utive Order 11222, or this part. How-
ever, an employee shall not, either for
or without compensation, engage in
teaching or writing that is dependent
on information obtained as a result of
his or her Commission employment,
except when that information has been
made available to the general public or
will be made available on request, or
when the Commission gives written au-
thorization for the use of nonpublic in-
formation on the basis that the use is
in the public interest.

(e) This section does not preclude an
individual from participation in the af-
fairs of or acceptance of an award for
meritorious public contribution or
achievement given by a charitable, re-
ligious, professional, social, fraternal,
nonprofit educational, recreational,
public service or civic organization.

(f) An employee of the Office of Gen-
eral Counsel who intends to engage in
outside employment shall obtain the
approval of the General Counsel/Ethics
Officer. All other employees who in-
tend to engage in outside employment
shall obtain the approval of the Staff
Director prior to review and approval
by the Ethics Officer. The request shall
include the name of the person, group,
or organization for whom the work is
to be performed, the nature of the serv-
ices to be rendered, the proposed hours
of work, or approximate dates of em-
ployment, and the employee’s certifi-
cation as to whether the outside em-
ployment (including teaching, writing
or lecturing) will depend in any way on
information obtained as a result of the
employee’s official Government posi-
tion. The employee will receive notice
of approval or disapproval of any writ-
ten request in accordance with any
labor-management agreement between
the Commission and a labor organiza-

tion. A record of the approval shall be
placed in each employee’s official per-
sonnel folder.

§ 7.10 Financial interests.
(a)(1) A Commissioner or employee

shall not engage in, directly or indi-
rectly, a financial transaction as a re-
sult of, or primarily relying on, infor-
mation obtained through his or her
Commission employment.

(2) A Commissioner or employee shall
not have a direct or indirect financial
interest that conflicts substantially, or
appears to conflict substantially, with
his or her Commission duties and re-
sponsibilities, except in cases where
the Commissioner or employee makes
full disclosure, and the Commissioner
or employee disqualifies himself or her-
self from participating in any deci-
sions, approval, disapproval, rec-
ommendation, the rendering of advice,
investigation, or otherwise in any pro-
ceeding of the Commission in which
the financial interest is or appears to
be affected. The filing of public finan-
cial disclosure reports will constitute
full disclosure for all individuals who
are required to file such reports pursu-
ant to the Ethics in Government Act.
Until such time as the extent, shape
and form of confidential financial dis-
closure reports required of employees
by the Ethics in Government Act has
been determined, full disclosure by an
employee will require that that em-
ployee submit a written statement to
the Ethics Officer disclosing the par-
ticular financial interest which con-
flicts substantially, or appears to con-
flict substantially, with the employee’s
duties and responsibilities.

(3) A Commissioner or employee
should disqualify himself or herself
from a proceeding in which his or her
impartiality might reasonably be ques-
tioned where the Commissioner or em-
ployee knows that he or she, or his or
her spouse, has an interest in the sub-
ject matter in controversy or is a party
to the proceeding, or any other interest
that could be substantially affected by
the outcome of the proceeding.

(b) This section does not preclude a
Commissioner or employee from hav-
ing a financial interest or engaging in
financial transactions to the same ex-
tent as a private citizen not employed
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by the Government provided that the
activity is not prohibited by law, Exec-
utive Order 11222, or Commission regu-
lations.

§ 7.11 Political and organization activ-
ity.

(a) Due to the Federal Election Com-
mission’s role in the political process,
the following restrictions on political
activities are required in addition to
those imposed by the Hatch Act (5
U.S.C. 7324 et seq.):

(1) No Commissioner or employee
should publicly support a candidate,
political party, or political committee
subject to the jurisdiction of the Com-
mission. No Commissioner or employee
should work for a candidate, political
party or political committee subject to
the jurisdiction of the Commission.
Commissioners and employees should
be aware that contributing to can-
didates, political parties, or political
committees subject to the jurisdiction
of the Commission is likely to result in
a conflict of interest.

(2) No Commissioner or employee
shall display partisan buttons, badges
or other insignia on Commission prem-
ises.

(b) Special Government employees
are subject to the restrictions con-
tained in this section for the entire 24
hours of any day on which the em-
ployee is on active duty status.

(c) Employees on leave, leave with-
out pay, or on furlough or terminal
leave, even though the employees’ res-
ignations have been accepted, are sub-
ject to the restrictions of this section.
A separated employee who has received
a lump-sum payment for annual leave,
however, is not subject to the restric-
tions during the period covered by the
lump-sum payment or thereafter, pro-
vided he or she does not return to Fed-
eral employment during that period.
An employee is not permitted to take a
leave of absence to work with a polit-
ical candidate, committee, or organiza-
tion or become a candidate for office
despite any understanding that he or
she will resign his or her position if
nominated or elected.

(d) An employee is accountable for
political activity by another person
acting as his or her agent or under the
employee’s direction or control if the

employee is thus accomplishing what
he or she may not lawfully do directly
and openly.

§ 7.12 Membership in associations.

Commissioners or employees who are
members of nongovernmental associa-
tions or organizations shall avoid ac-
tivities on behalf of those associations
or organizations that are incompatible
with their official governmental posi-
tions.

§ 7.13 Use of Government property.

A Commission or employee shall not
directly or indirectly use, or allow the
use of, Government property of any
kind, including property leased to the
Government, for other than officially
approved activities. Commissioners
and employees have a positive duty to
protect and conserve Government prop-
erty including equipment, supplies, and
other property entrusted or issued to
him or her.

§ 7.14 Prohibition against making com-
plaints and investigations public.

(a) Commission employees are
warned that they are subject to crimi-
nal penalties if they discuss or other-
wise make public any matters per-
taining to a complaint or investigation
under 2 U.S.C. 437g, without the writ-
ten permission of the person com-
plained against or being investigated.
Such communications are prohibited
by 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12)(A).

(b) 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12)(B) provides as
follows: ‘‘Any member or employee of
the Commission or any other person,
who violates the provisions of subpara-
graph (A) shall be fined not more than
$2,000. Any such member, employee, or
other person who knowingly and will-
fully violates this subsection shall be
fined not more than $5,000.’’

§ 7.15 Ex parte communications.

In order to avoid the possibility of
prejudice, real or apparent, to the pub-
lic interest in enforcement actions
pending before the Commission pursu-
ant to 2 U.S.C. 437g(A) (1) or (2):

(a) Except to the extent required for
the disposition of ex parte matters as

VerDate 27<JAN>2000 14:04 Feb 09, 2000 Jkt 190031 PO 00000 Frm 00036 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\190031T.XXX pfrm01 PsN: 190031T



37

Federal Election Commission § 7.16

required by law (as, for example, dur-
ing the normal course of an investiga-
tion or a conciliation effort), no Com-
missioner or employee involved in the
decisional process shall make or enter-
tain any ex parte communications.

(b) The prohibition of this section
shall apply from the time a complaint
is filed with the Commission pursuant
to 2 U.S.C. 437(a)(1) or from the time
that the Commission determines on the
basis of information ascertained in the
normal course of its supervisory re-
sponsibilities that it has reason to be-
lieve that a violation has occurred or
may occur pursuant to 2 U.S.C.
437g(a)(2), and shall remain in force
until the Commission has concluded all
action with respect to the enforcement
matter in question.

(c) Any written communication pro-
hibited by paragraph (a) of this section
shall be delivered to the Ethics Officer
of the Commission who shall place the
communication in the file of the case.

(d) A Commissioner or employee,
other than the employee assigned to
the case, involved in handling enforce-
ment actions who receives an oral offer
or any communication concerning any
enforcement action pending before the
Commission as described in paragraph
(a) of this section shall decline to lis-
ten to such communication. If unsuc-
cessful in preventing the communica-
tion, the Commissioner or employee
shall advise the person making the
communication that he or she will not
consider the communication and shall
prepare a statement setting forth the
substance and circumstances of the
communication within 48 hours of re-
ceipt of the communication and shall
deliver the statement to the Ethics Of-
ficer for placing in the file in the man-
ner set forth in paragraph (c) of this
section.

§ 7.16 Miscellaneous statutory provi-
sions.

Each employee shall acquaint him-
self or herself with each statute that
relates to his or her ethical and other
conduct as an employee of the Commis-
sion and of the Government. In par-
ticular, the attention of employees is
directed to the following statutory pro-
visions:

(a) Chapter 11 of title 18, United
States Code, relating to bribery, graft,
and conflicts of interest, as appropriate
to the employees concerned.

(b) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 1913
against lobbying with appropriated
funds.

(c) The prohibitions of 5 U.S.C. 7311
and 18 U.S.C. 1918 against disloyalty
and striking.

(d) The prohibition of 50 U.S.C. 784
against the employment of a member
of a Communist organization.

(e) The prohibitions against (1) the
disclosure of classified information
under 18 U.S.C. 798 and 50 U.S.C. 782
and (2) the disclosure of confidential
business information under 18 U.S.C.
1905.

(f) The provisions of 5 U.S.C. 7352 re-
lating to the habitual use of intoxi-
cants to excess.

(g) The prohibition of 31 U.S.C.
638a(c) against the misuse of a Govern-
ment vehicle.

(h) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 1719
against the misuse of the franking
privilege.

(i) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 1917
against the use of deceit in an exam-
ination or personnel action in connec-
tion with Government employment.

(j) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 1001
against fraud or false statements in a
Government matter.

(k) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 2071
against mutilating or destroying a pub-
lic record.

(l) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 508
against counterfeiting and forging
transportion requests.

(m) The prohibitions against
(1) Embezzlement of Government

money or property under 18 U.S.C. 641;
(2) Failing to account for public

money under 18 U.S.C. 643; and
(3) Embezzlement of the money or

property of another person in the pos-
session of an employee by reason of his
or her employment under 18 U.S.C 654.

(n) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 285
against unauthorized use of documents
relating to claims from or by the Gov-
ernment.

(o) The prohibitions against political
activities in subchapter III of chapter
73 of title 5, United States Code, and 18
U.S.C 602, 603, 607, and 608.
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(p) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 219
against an employee acting as the
agent of a foreign principal registered
under the Foreign Agents Registration
Act.

(q) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 207
against certain activities of departing
and former employees.

(r) The prohibition of 18 U.S.C. 208
against certain acts affecting a per-
sonal financial interest.

Subpart C—Conduct and Respon-
sibilities of Special Commis-
sion Employees

§ 7.17 Use of Commission employment.

A special Commission employee shall
not use his or her Commission employ-
ment for a purpose that is, or gives the
appearance of being, motivated by a
desire for unlawful private gain for
himself or herself, or for another per-
son, particularly one with whom the
employee has family, business or finan-
cial ties.

§ 7.18 Use of inside information.

(a) A special Commission employee
shall not use inside information ob-
tained as a result of his or her Commis-
sion employment for unlawful private
gain for himself or herself, or for an-
other person, either by direct action on
the employee’s part or by counsel, rec-
ommendation, or suggestion to another
person, particularly one with whom the
employee has family, business, or fi-
nancial ties. For the purpose of this
section, inside information means infor-
mation obtained under Commission au-
thority which has not become part of
the body of public information.

(b) A special Commission employee
may teach, lecture, or write in a man-
ner consistent with 11 CFR 7.9 (d) and
(e).

§ 7.19 Coercion.

A special Commission employee shall
not use his or her Commission employ-
ment to coerce, or give the appearance
of coercing, a person to provide unlaw-
ful financial benefit to himself or her-
self or to another person, particularly
one with whom the employee has fam-
ily, business, or financial ties.

§ 7.20 Gifts, entertainment, and favors.
Except as provided at 11 CFR 7.8(b), a

special Commission employee, while so
employed or in connection with his or
her employment, shall not receive or
solicit from a person having business
with the Commission anything of value
such as a gift, gratuity, loan, enter-
tainment, or favor for himself or her-
self, or for another person, particularly
one with whom the employee has fam-
ily, business, or financial ties.

§ 7.21 Miscellaneous statutory provi-
sions.

Each special Commission employee
shall acquaint himself or herself with
each statute that relates to his or her
ethical or other conduct as a special
Commission employee. Particular at-
tention should be directed to the statu-
tory provisions listed in 11 CFR 7.16.

Subpart D—Post Employment
Conflict of Interest: Proce-
dures for Administrative En-
forcement Proceedings

§ 7.22 Scope.
The following are procedures to be

followed by the Federal Election Com-
mission in investigating and adminis-
tratively correcting violations of the
post employment conflict of interest
provisions contained in 18 U.S.C. 207
(a), (b), and (c), which restrict activi-
ties of former employees, including
former special Commission employees,
which might give the appearance of
undue benefit based on prior Commis-
sion employment and affiliation.
Where appropriate for purposes of this
subpart, former special Commission em-
ployee shall be defined in accordance
with 18 U.S.C. 207(c)(1).

§ 7.23 Initiation of investigation.
(a) Filing of complaint. (1) Any person

who believes a former employee has
violated the post employment conflict
of interest provisions of 18 U.S.C. 207
(a), (b), or (c), or 5 CFR part 737 may
file a signed complaint with the Ethics
Officer.

(2) The Ethics Officer, within five
days after receipt of the complaint,
shall send a copy of the complaint by
certified mail to the former employee
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named in the complaint. The former
employee may, within ten days after
receipt of the complaint, submit any
written legal or factual materials he or
she believes demonstrate that the com-
plaint should be dismissed on its face.

(b) Review of complaint. (1) The Ethics
Officer will review the complaint and
any materials submitted by the former
employee, and will prepare a report to
the Commission recommending wheth-
er the complaint should be investigated
or should be dismissed on its face.

(2) If the Commission, by an affirma-
tive vote of four members, finds that
the complaint appears to be substan-
tiated, it may order an investigation of
the allegations made in the complaint.

(i) Except as may be required to co-
ordinate with the Department of Jus-
tice under 11 CFR 7.23(b)(2)(iii) any in-
vestigation conducted under this sec-
tion shall be kept confidential until
such time as the Commission has de-
termined whether there is reasonable
cause to believe a violation has oc-
curred.

(ii) The Ethics Officer shall notify
the Director of the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics and the Criminal Division
of the Department of Justice of the
Commission’s finding that the com-
plaint has merit. The notification shall
contain a copy of the complaint, any
materials submitted by the former em-
ployee, the Ethics Officer’s report, and
the certification of the Commission’s
action.

(iii) The Commission will coordinate
any investigation or administrative ac-
tion with the Department of Justice to
avoid prejudicing criminal proceedings,
unless the Department of Justice noti-
fies the Commission that it does not
intend to initiate criminal proceedings.

(3) If the Commission finds the com-
plaint to be unfounded, no investiga-
tion will be conducted and both the
complainant and the former employee
will be notified by the Ethics Officer of
the Commission’s finding.

§ 7.24 Conduct of preliminary inves-
tigation.

(a) Ethics Officer’s responsibility. Upon
a finding under 11 CFR 7.23(b)(2) that a
complaint appears to be substantiated,
the Ethics Officer shall conduct an in-

vestigation into the allegations of the
complaint.

(b) Opportunity to respond. The former
employee will be sent a copy of the
Ethics Officer’s report and will be
given an opportunity to respond in
writing and under oath to the allega-
tions made in the complaint and the
findings made in the report. The
former empoloyee may provide any
written legal or factual materials he or
she believes demonstrate that no viola-
tion has occurred. Such response must
be received by the Commission within
20 days after the former employee’s re-
ceipt of the Ethics Officer’s report, un-
less an extension is authorized in writ-
ing by the Ethics Officer.

(c) Representation by counsel. The
former employee may be represented
by counsel during the investigation.
Such counsel shall notify the Ethics
Officer in writing that he or she is rep-
resenting the former employee. There-
after, all communications between the
Commission staff and the former em-
ployee relating to the investigation
shall be made to the former employee’s
counsel.

(d) Report to the Commission. Upon
completion of the investigation, the
Ethics Officer shall prepare a report to
the Commission, including any mate-
rials provided by the former employee.
The report shall recommend whether
there is reasonable cause to believe the
respondent has violated 18 U.S.C. 207
(a), (b), or (c).

§ 7.25 Initiation of administrative dis-
ciplinary proceeding.

(a) Commission review of report. The
Commission shall review the Ethics Of-
ficer’s investigative report in Execu-
tive Session.

(b) Reasonable cause to believe finding.
If the Commission, by an affirmative
vote of four members, determines there
is reasonable cause to believe a viola-
tion has occurred, it shall initiate an
administrative disciplinary proceeding
by providing the former employee with
the notice defined in 11 CFR 7.26.

(c) No reasonable cause to believe find-
ing. If the Commission determines that
there is no reasonable cause to believe
a violation has occurred, it will close
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its file on the matter and take no fur-
ther action. The Commission shall no-
tify the Director of the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics, the Criminal Division
of the Department of Justice, the com-
plainant, and the former employee of
its determination. Included in this no-
tification will be a statement of rea-
sons for the Commission’s determina-
tion.

§ 7.26 Notice to former employee.
(a) Notice requirement. After a reason-

able cause to believe finding the Ethics
Officer shall provide the former Com-
mission employee with adequate notice
of an intention to institute a discipli-
nary proceeding and an opportunity to
request a hearing.

(b) Contents. The notice required
under this section shall contain:

(1) A statement of the allegations
(and the basis thereof);

(2) Notification of the right to re-
quest a hearing;

(3) An explanation of the method by
which a hearing may be requested as
set forth at 11 CFR 7.26(c); and

(4) A copy of the post-employment
regulations.

(c) Request for hearing. (1) A former
employee who has received a notice
under this section must notify the
Commission with ten days after receipt
of such notice by certified mail of his
or her desire for a hearing. The request
for a hearing should include the fol-
lowing information:

(i) The former employee’s daytime
telephone number;

(ii) The name, address, and telephone
number of the former employee’s coun-
sel, if he or she intends to be rep-
resented by counsel; and

(iii) At least three dates and times at
which the former employee will be
available for a hearing.

(2) If a written request from the
former employee is not received by the
Ethics Officer within the stated time
period, the right to a hearing shall be
waived and the examiner (See 11 CFR
7.27) shall consider the evidence and
make a decision.

§ 7.27 Hearing examiner designation
and qualifications.

(a) Designation. If the Commission de-
cides by an affirmative vote of four of

its members to hold a hearing, the Eth-
ics Officer shall designate an individual
to serve as examiner at the administra-
tive disciplinary hearing. In the ab-
sence of a hearing, the Ethics Officer
shall designate an examiner to consider
the written evidence and make a deci-
sion. (See 11 CFR 7.26(b)(2)). The indi-
vidual designated as examiner shall
have the qualifications set forth in
paragraph (b) of this section.

(b) Qualifications. (1) An examiner
shall be impartial. No individual who
has participated in any manner in the
decision to initiate the proceeding may
serve as an examiner in those pro-
ceedings. Therefore, the following per-
sons may not be designated as an ex-
aminer:

(i) A Commissioner,
(ii) The Ethics Officer, or
(iii) Any Commission employee who

has participated in the preliminary in-
vestigation of the complaint.

(2) The examiner shall be an attorney
at the Assistant General Counsel level
or higher.

§ 7.28 Hearing date.
(a) Setting of date by examiner. The ex-

aminer shall set the hearing at a rea-
sonable time, date, and place.

(b) Considerations. Whenever prac-
ticable, the examiner shall choose a
time and date from the list submitted
by the former employee in the request
for a hearing. In setting a hearing date,
the examiner shall give due regard to
the former employee’s need for:

(1) Adequate time to prepare a de-
fense properly, and

(2) An expeditious resolution of alle-
gations that may be damaging to his or
her reputation.

§ 7.29 Hearing rights of former em-
ployee.

A hearing conducted under these pro-
cedures shall afford the former em-
ployee the following rights:

(a) To represent oneself or to be rep-
resented by counsel,

(b) To introduce and examine wit-
nesses and to submit physical evidence,

(c) To confront and cross-examine ad-
verse witnesses,

(d) To present oral argument, and
(e) To request a transcript of the re-

cording of proceedings. The requester
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will be charged according to the fee
schedule set out at 11 CFR 5.6.

§ 7.30 Hearing procedures.

(a) Witness lists. (1) No later than 10
days prior to the hearing date, the Eth-
ics Officer will provide the former em-
ployee with a list of the witnesses the
Commission intends to introduce. The
list shall include the name and position
of each witness and the aspect of the
allegation upon which the witness is
expected to testify. If no witnesses are
to be called, the former employee shall
be so notified.

(2) No later than 5 days prior to the
hearing date, the former employee
shall provide the Ethics Officer with a
list of witnesses he or she intends to
introduce. The list shall include the
name and position of each witness and
the aspect of the allegation upon which
the witness is expected to testify. If no
witnesses are to be called, the Ethics
Officer shall be so notified.

(3) Copies of the witness lists shall be
given to the examiner by the Ethics Of-
ficer.

(b) Representation. (1) The Commis-
sion shall be represented at the hearing
by the Ethics Officer or his or her des-
ignee,

(2) The former employee may rep-
resent himself or herself or may be rep-
resented by counsel.

(c) Burden of proof. The burden of
proof shall be on the Commission
which must establish substantial evi-
dence of a violation.

(d) Conduct of hearing. (1) The fol-
lowing items will be introduced by the
Commission and will be made part of
the hearing record:

(i) The complaint;
(ii) The notification sent to the

former employee under 11 CFR 7.27;
(iii) The former employee’s response

to the notification; and
(iv) If the Commission so chooses, a

brief or memorandum of law.
(2) The former employee will then be

given an opportunity to submit a brief
or memorandum of law to be included
in the hearing record.

(3) The Commission shall introduce
its witnesses and evidence first. At the
close of the Commission’s examination
of each witness, the former employee

will be given an opportunity to cross-
examine the witness.

(4) The former employee will present
his or her witnesses and evidence at
the close of the Commission’s presen-
tation. At the close of the former em-
ployee’s examination of each witness,
the Commission shall be given an op-
portunity to cross-examine each wit-
ness.

(5) After the former employee has
completed his or her presentation, both
parties will be given an opportunity for
oral argument with the Commission
making its arguments first. Time shall
be offered during the oral argument for
Commission rebuttal.

(6) Decisions as to the admissibility
of evidence or testimony shall be made
under the Federal Rules of Evidence.

§ 7.31 Examiner’s decision.
(a) Initial determination. No later than

15 days after the close of the hearing,
the examiner shall make a determina-
tion exclusively on matters of record in
the proceeding.

(b) Form of determination. The exam-
iner’s determination shall set forth all
findings of fact and conclusions of law
relevant to the matters at issue.

(c) Copies. The examiner shall provide
copies of his or her determination to
the former employee, the complainant,
the Ethics Officer, and the Commis-
sion.

§ 7.32 Appeal.
(a) Right of appeal. Within ten days

after receipt by certified mail of the
examiner’s decision, either party may
appeal such decision to the members of
the Commission by filing a notice of
appeal with the Chairman.

(b) Notice of appeal. The notice of ap-
peal shall be accompanied by a memo-
randum setting forth the legal and fac-
tual reasons why the examiner’s deci-
sion should be reversed or modified.

(c) Commission review of appeal. The
Commission, by an affirmative vote of
four members, may affirm, modify, or
reverse the examiner’s decision. The
Commission’s decision shall be based
solely on the hearing record or those
portions thereof cited by the parties to
limit the issues.

(d) Commission statement on appeal. If
the Commission modifies or reverses
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the initial decision, it shall specify
such findings of fact or conclusions of
law as are different from those of the
examiner.

§ 7.33 Administrative sanctions.

The Commission may take appro-
priate disciplinary action in the case of
any individual who is found in viola-
tion of 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b), or (c) after
a final administrative hearing, or in
the absence of a hearing, after ade-
quate notice such as by:

(a) Prohibiting the individual from
making, on behalf of any person (ex-
cept the United States), any formal or
informal appearance before, or, with
the intent to influence, any oral or
written communication to the Com-
mission on any matter of business for a
period not to exceed five years, which
may be accomplished by directing
agency employees to refuse to partici-
pate in any such appearance or to ac-
cept any such communication;

(b) Issuing a letter of reprimand;
(c) Issuing a letter of admonishment;
(d) Prohibiting a former employee

from making formal or informal ap-
pearances or communications in con-
nection with a particular matter or on
behalf of a particular party.

(e) Taking other appropriate discipli-
nary action.

PART 8—NATIONAL VOTER REG-
ISTRATION ACT (42 U.S.C.
1973gg–1 et seq.)

Subpart A—General Provisions

Sec.
8.1 Purpose & scope.
8.2 Definitions.

Subpart B—National Mail Voter Registration
Form

8.3 General Information.
8.4 Contents.
8.5 Format.
8.6 Chief state election official.

Subpart C—Recordkeeping and Reporting

8.7 Contents of reports from the states.

AUTHORITY: 42 U.S.C. 1973gg–1 et seq.

SOURCE: 59 FR 32323, June 23, 1994, unless
otherwise noted.

Subpart A—General Provisions

§ 8.1 Purpose & scope.

The regulations in this part imple-
ment the responsibilities delegated to
the Commission under Section 9 of the
National Voter Registration Act of
1993, Public Law 103–31, 97 Stat. 77, 42
U.S.C. 1973gg–1 et seq. (‘‘NVRA’’). They
describe the format and contents of the
national mail voter registration form
and the information that will be re-
quired from the states for inclusion in
the Commission’s biennial report to
Congress.

§ 8.2 Definitions.

As used in this part:
(a) Form means the national mail

voter registration application form,
which includes the registration appli-
cation, accompanying general instruc-
tions for completing the application,
and state-specific instructions.

(b) Chief state election official means
the designated state officer or em-
ployee responsible for the coordination
of state responsibilities under 42 U.S.C.
1973gg–8.

(c) Active voters means all registered
voters except those who have been sent
but have not responded to a confirma-
tion mailing sent in accordance with 42
U.S.C. 1973gg–6(d) and have not since
offered to vote.

(d) Inactive voters means registrants
who have been sent but have not re-
sponded to a confirmation mailing sent
in accordance with 42 U.S.C. 1973gg–6(d)
and have not since offered to vote.

(e) Duplicate registration application
means an offer to register by a person
already registered to vote at the same
address, under the same name, and
(where applicable) in the same political
party.

(f) State means a state of the United
States and the District of Columbia
not exempt from coverage under 42
U.S.C. 1973gg–2(b).

(g) Closed primary state means a state
that requires party registration as a
precondition to vote for partisan races
in primary elections or for other nomi-
nating procedures.
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